No. 47716-5-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON **COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II** OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**ALEX SAFRANSKI** 

Appellant

V.

SULTAN WEATHERSPOON

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. David E. Gregerson)

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Steven E. Turner WSB No. 33840 Steven Turner Law PLLC 1409 Franklin Street, Suite 216 Vancouver, WA 98660 Telephone: (971) 563-4696 steven@steventurnerlaw.com

Attorney for Appellant

### **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Duma Video, Inc. was a Washington corporation founded by Respondent Sultan Weatherspoon. Duma hired Appellant Alex Safranski, who was given roughly twenty percent of Duma's shares. Weatherspoon remained the majority shareholder, and he had control over Duma.

Thereafter, Duma entered into an Asset Purchase

Agreement ("APA") with a company called BMS. Under the

APA, Duma transferred all its assets to BMS in exchange for an

upfront payment of \$900,000 and a later "earnout" payment of

\$350,000 when Duma delivered a specified software product.

The APA always contemplated that Safranski would go to work for BMS. He and BMS entered into employment contract that would pay Safranski a \$160,000 bonus for providing essentially the same software product that Duma had promised to provide in the APA. Safranski did not disclose this bonus to Weatherspoon.

After the asset sale was consummated, Safranski delivered the software product to BMS before Duma did. As a result—according to Weatherspoon—BMS did not make the \$350,000 earnout payment to Duma. Duma claimed that BMS still owed the \$350,000, but Duma settled its claim against BMS for roughly \$139,000, which BMS paid to Duma.

In the subject action, Weatherspoon sued Safranski for fraud. Weatherspoon alleged he would not have allowed Duma to agree to the \$350,000 earnout provision if he had known about Safranski's side-deal with BMS. As a result of Safranski's fraud, according to Weatherspoon, Duma received only \$139,000 of the \$350,000 that was due under the APA. Based on his percentage ownership of Duma's stock, Weatherspoon's proportionate share of the damages to Duma was no more than \$167,000. Nevertheless, the jury awarded Weatherspoon roughly \$275,000 on this claim.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Safranski assigns two errors to the trial court.

# A. The Trial Court Should Have Dismissed Weatherspoon's Fraud Claim for Lack of Standing

Safranski brought two motions to the court seeking the dismissal of Weatherspoon's fraud claim based on his lack of standing to pursue that claim. First, Safranski brought a summary judgment motion against this claim, which the trial court denied. Subsequently, after the close of evidence at trial, Safranski brought a CR 50 motion for judgment as a matter of law against Weatherspoon's fraud claim, on the same basis. Again, the trial court denied Safranski's motion.

This assignment of error presents the following issue:

**Standing.** "Ordinarily, a shareholder cannot sue for wrongs done to a corporation, because the corporation is a separate entity." Moreover, "[e]ven a shareholder who owns

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sabey v. Howard Johnson Co., 101 Wn. App. 575, 5 P.3d 730, 735 (2000) (citing Gustafson v. Gustafson, 47 Wn. App. 272, 734 P.2d 949 (1987))

all or most of the stock, but who suffers damages only indirectly as a shareholder, cannot sue as an individual."<sup>2</sup> Thus, Weatherspoon would ordinarily lack standing to sue Safranski for fraud perpetrated against the corporation. There are some exceptions to this rule, but Weatherspoon's fraud claim does not fit within any of those exceptions. Did Weatherspoon lack standing to bring his fraud claim against Safranski?

## B. The Trial Court Should Have Issued a Remittitur

Weatherspoon claims that, but for Safranski's fraud,
Duma would have received the full \$350,000 earnout payment,
which Duma settled for \$139,000. As Weatherspoon owned
roughly 79% of Duma's stock, his share of this \$211,000 loss
could be no more than \$167,000. Nevertheless, the jury
awarded him roughly \$275,000.

This assignment of error raises the following issue:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sabey, supra, 5 P.3d at 735

Remittitur. Civil Rule 59(a) calls for a remittitur either when the jury's verdict reflects "[e]rror in the assessment of the amount of recovery" or "there is no evidence or reasonable inference from the evidence to justify the verdict...." Based on the undisputed evidence, the maximum damage Weatherspoon could have suffered as a result of Safranski's alleged fraud would have been \$167,000; but the jury awarded him roughly \$275,000. Should the trial court have issued a remittitur for \$167,000?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE III.

Weatherspoon founded Duma in 2001.<sup>3</sup> Duma was in the business of developing software for video compression.<sup>4</sup> Duma hired Safranski in 2003, and Weatherspoon gave Safranski twenty percent of Duma's stock.<sup>5</sup> In the spring of 2012, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Clerk's Papers at page 18 ("CP 18")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 18 <sup>5</sup> CP 18

relationship between Safranski and Weatherspoon soured.<sup>6</sup> By April of 2012, Safranski had hired an attorney, who made a claim for allegedly improper expense reimbursements that Weatherspoon had taken from Duma.<sup>7</sup> Weatherspoon hired his own attorney, too, and all the parties met.<sup>8</sup> The parties and attorneys agreed that—due to the irreconcilable differences between Safranski and Weatherspoon--Duma's best course of action was to solicit and negotiate a sale of its assets for the highest possible value.<sup>9</sup> Weatherspoon explored the sale of all of Duma's assets to a company called BMS.<sup>10</sup>

In August of 2012, Duma entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement ("APA") with BMS, wherein Duma sold essentially all its assets to BMS.<sup>11</sup> Under the agreement, BMS agreed to pay Duma "900,000 up front, and an additional \$350,000 earnout payment if and when Duma delivered" a certain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 22

<sup>8</sup> CP 22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 52-53

software product, known as an "i-7 H.264 decoder." BMS made the upfront payment of \$900,000 to Duma for its assets. 13

While Duma was negotiating the APA with BMS, Safranski made his own deal with BMS. In June of 2012, he signed an employment agreement with BMS under which he would receive a "Project Success Bonus" of \$160,000 when he "completed the FTGA H.264 Decoder project to the satisfaction of" BMS.<sup>14</sup> Safranski did not tell Weatherspoon about the terms of his employment agreement with BMS.<sup>15</sup>

Roughly a year after the APA was executed, Safranski delivered the decoder to BMS, and BMS paid him the Project Success Bonus of \$160,000. BMS then "rejected Duma's i-7 H.264 decoder," and, according to Weatherspoon, "BMS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 65

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 139

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 65

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 67

therefore refused to pay the \$350,000 earnout" under the APA. 17

When Weatherspoon found out about Safranski's arrangement with BMS, he counterclaimed against Safranski for fraud, alleging "Weatherspoon suffered economic damages measured by the value of his interest" in Duma before the sale of its assets to BMS less the amount he received from the sale. In the alternative, Weatherspoon claimed he was "entitled to recover his interest in the \$350,000 earnout in the amount of \$245,000."

Based on these allegations, Safranski brought a motion for summary judgment, arguing—among other things—that Weatherspoon did not have standing to sue Safranski, because the alleged fraud had prevented Duma from receiving the \$350,000 earnout payment, and Weatherspoon's damages were

Ŗ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 67

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 68

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 68 (At the time of that pleading, Weatherspoon alleged he had a 70% interest in Duma. (CP 67))

derivative of Duma's damages.<sup>20</sup> The trial court denied that motion.<sup>21</sup>

Thereafter, the case was bifurcated for trial. A jury trial was held to determine, *inter alia*, Weatherspoon's claim for fraud. Safranski submitted a trial brief, reiterating the argument he had made in support of his summary judgment motion—that Weatherspoon did not have any standing to bring the fraud claim:

Duma, not Weatherspoon was the party to the APA. Duma owned the assets sold to BMS, not Weatherspoon. Weatherspoon signed the APA not as an individual but as president of Duma. Weatherspoon, in his individual capacity, has no direct connects [sic] to the transaction; he is only a shareholder of the seller—Duma.<sup>22</sup>

At the conclusion of the evidence, Safranski moved under CR 50 for judgment as a matter of law on the fraud claim, on the grounds that Weatherspoon lacked standing.

MR. NAITO: And, Your Honor, plaintiff has a CR 50 motion for the court also.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 74-76

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Reporter's Transcript, 4/18/2014 hearing, at p. 38 (RT 4/18/2014 at 38) <sup>22</sup> CP 259

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. NAITO: And this is on the -- whether or not Mr. Weatherspoon has standing to bring a fraud claim against plaintiff. And that argument is set forth on page 18 and 19 of my trial memorandum. It is substantially the same argument that was made at summary judgment.

THE COURT: Thank you. Mr. Seidl, any response?

MR. SEIDL: Your Honor, unless you need additional argument on that, I think the argument we made at summary judgment, in which you denied that very same motion, I would adopt and incorporate that argument.

THE COURT: It does seem to be a pure legal issue and I do appreciate counsel cutting to the chase on this. Court previously ruled on that and does find - well, actually denies any motion based upon lack of standing and affirms.<sup>23</sup>

Weatherspoon's fraud claim was allowed to go to the jury, and the jury awarded Weatherspoon \$275,637.50.<sup>24</sup>

Safranski made a timely motion under Civil Rule 59, asking the trial court to issue a remittitur for \$167,212.45.<sup>25</sup> This motion was based on the undisputed fact that Duma settled its claims

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Supplemental Reporter's Transcript 3/30/2015 at pp. 60:4-25 (Appellant has filed a motion under RAP 9.10 to supplement the record to add this portion of the trial transcript.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 384-385 <sup>25</sup> CP 452-457

against BMS for nonpayment of the \$350,000 earnout. "Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement, BMS paid Duma \$139,166 in exchange for a settlement" of the claims. <sup>26</sup> Thus, the maximum damage Duma could have suffered as a result of Safranski's alleged fraud was \$210,834. Weatherspoon's precise ownership percentage, by the time the case proceeded to trial, was 79.31% of Duma. <sup>27</sup> Accordingly, the maximum loss Weatherspoon could have suffered was \$167,212.45. The trial court denied Safranski's motion for a remittitur and left the jury's award intact. <sup>28</sup>

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. Even Though He Was the Majority
Stockholder, Weatherspoon Lacked Standing to
Sue for Harm to Duma

The doctrine of standing prevents one person or entity from suing for harm to a different person or entity. "Though

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP 53

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 466

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 419

the doctrine of standing does not implicate subject matter jurisdiction, it does prohibit a plaintiff from asserting another's legal rights."<sup>29</sup> If a plaintiff does not have proper standing, than his claims should be dismissed. "The claims of a plaintiff who lacks standing cannot be resolved on the merits and must fail."<sup>30</sup> Because standing is an inherently legal question, a de *novo* standard of review applies to all such questions. "Whether a party has standing to sue is a question of law reviewed de novo."31

Washington's court rules codify the standing doctrine in Civil Rule 17(a), which requires that "[e]very action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." Subject to certain exceptions not applicable to this case, "the real party in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kan. v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 176 Wn. App. 185, 199, 312 P.3d 976 (2013) (citing Walker v. Munro, 124 Wn.2d 402, 419, 879 P.2d 920 (1994)) <sup>30</sup> *Ibid.* (citing *Ullery*, 162 Wn. App. 596, 604–05, 256 P.3d 406, *review* 

denied,173 Wn.2d 1003, 271 P.3d 248 (2011))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Ibid. (citing Spokane Airports v. RMA, Inc., 149 Wn. App. 930, 939, 206 P.3d 364 (2009))

interest is 'the person who, if successful, will be entitled to the fruits of the action.'"<sup>32</sup>

The question of standing arises frequently in the context of corporations and their shareholders, where the courts must distinguish between direct claims by the corporation and derivative claims by their shareholders. One of the leading treatises on corporations, by William M. Fletcher, has summarized the rules of standing in the corporate context as follows: "A shareholder has no separate or individual right of action against third persons for wrongs committed against or damaging to the corporation, and this same rule applies even where one person is the sole shareholder."<sup>33</sup>

To determine whether the shareholder or the corporation has standing to bring the claim, Fletcher suggests the following analysis:

Nw. Indep. Forest Mfrs. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 78 Wn. App. 707,
 716, 899 P.2d 6 (1995) (quoting 3A Lewis H. Orland & Karl B. Tegland,
 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: RULES PRACTICE, at 420 (4th ed. 1992))
 <sup>33</sup> 1 Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations, § 36 (2015)

If the wrong is primarily against the corporation, the redress for it must be sought by the corporation, except where a derivative action by a shareholder is allowable, and a shareholder cannot sue as an individual. . . . Whether a cause of action is individual or derivative must be determined from the nature of the wrong alleged and the relief, if any, that could result if the plaintiff were to prevail.

In determining the nature of the wrong alleged, the court must look to the body of the complaint, not to the plaintiff's designation or stated intention. The action is derivative if the gravamen of the complaint is injury to the corporation, or to the whole body of its stock or property without any severance or distribution among individual holders, or if it seeks to recover assets for the corporation or to prevent dissipation of its assets. . . . If damages to a shareholder result indirectly, as the result of an injury to the corporation, and not directly, the shareholder cannot sue as an individual."<sup>34</sup>

Washington's courts have expressly adopted this analysis from Fletcher. In *Sabey v. Howard Johnson Co.*, the court cited Fletcher when it summarized Washington's approach in this regard:

Ordinarily, a shareholder cannot sue for wrongs done to a corporation, because the corporation is a separate entity: the shareholder's interest is viewed as too removed to meet the standing requirements. *Even a* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 12B Fletcher, Cyclopedia of Corporations, § 5911, 421 (perm. ed.) (emphasis added)

shareholder who owns all or most of the stock, but who suffers damages only indirectly as a shareholder, cannot sue as an individual.<sup>35</sup>

There are many good reasons for this rule. First, claims arising from alleged harm to the corporation cannot be brought individually because the injuries flow to each individual stockholder in proportion to his or her share of ownership; thus, if each stockholder were allowed to sue for harm to the corporation, then there would be "as many suits against the wrongdoer as there were stockholders in the corporation."<sup>36</sup>

Second, this rule promotes fairness because it prevents a majority stockholder, like Weatherspoon, from having his cake and eating it, too. "An individual who chooses to incorporate and thereby enjoy the benefits of the corporate form must also bear the attendant burdens." In other words, Weatherspoon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Sabey v. Howard Johnson Co., supra, 5 P.3d at 735 (emphasis added) (citing Gustafson v. Gustafson, 47 Wn. App. 272, 734 P.2d 949, 952 (1987) and 12B Fletcher, Cyclopedia of Corporations, § 5910 (perm. ed. rev.vol.1993))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Fletcher, *supra*, at § 5911

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Cottringer v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 162 Wn. App. 782, 785, 257 P.3d 667, review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1005 (2011)

cannot enjoy the separate existence of Duma when it suits his purpose—such as by limiting his liability—but then disregard the existence of Duma when it does not. The individual "'cannot employ the corporate form to his advantage in the business world and then choose to ignore its separate entity when he gets to the courthouse."<sup>38</sup>

In sum, under the general rule, there can be little doubt that Weatherspoon lacked standing to bring his fraud claim against Safranski: Duma, not Weatherspoon, entered into the APA with BMS; Duma, not Weatherspoon, owned the assets that were transferred to BMS; Duma, not Weatherspoon, received the payments from BMS; and Duma, not Weatherspoon, suffered the harm when BMS did not make the \$350,000 earnout payment. Any harm suffered by Weatherspoon was purely derivative of the harm suffered by Duma, in his proportionate share. Thus, under the general rule, as explained by Fletcher and as adopted by Washington's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Zimmerman v. Kyte, 53 Wn. App. 11, 18, 765 P.2d 905 (1988) (quoting 12B W. FLETCHER, Private Corporations, § 5910 (1984))

courts, Weatherspoon lacked standing to for the harm that Safranski allegedly caused to Duma.

# B. Weatherspoon's Claim Did Not Fit Within Any Exceptions to the Rule that Shareholders Cannot Sue for Harm to the Corporation

There are three major exceptions to the rule that a shareholder has no standing to sue for harm to the corporation.

As shown immediately below, however, Weatherspoon did not and could not fit his claim within any of these three exceptions.

## 1. Weatherspoon Did Not and Could Not Bring a Shareholder Derivative Claim

One narrow exception is when the plaintiff brings a shareholder derivative on behalf of the corporation. As the court explained in *Gustafson v. Gustafson*:

Ordinarily, a shareholder cannot sue for wrongs done to a corporation, because the corporation is viewed as a separate entity, and the shareholder's interest is too remote to meet the standing requirements. However, because of the possibility of abuse by the officers and directors of a corporation, a narrow exception has been

created for shareholders to bring derivative suits on behalf of the corporation.<sup>39</sup>

But Weatherspoon did not bring to trial a derivative suit on behalf of Duma. He brought the claim in his own name, and he did not bring any claim under Civil Rule 23.1, which governs derivative claims. This Court may wonder why Weatherspoon did not avoid his standing problem by simply bringing his claim as a derivative claim. The answer is that Weatherspoon took the position in the trial court that Safranski's derivative claims against Weatherspoon had been transferred by Duma to BMS as part of the APA. Weatherspoon's summary judgment motion was granted on that basis on April 4, 2014.<sup>40</sup>

Two weeks later, Weatherspoon argued to the trial court that any derivative claims *Weatherspoon* had against *Safranski* were not transferred by Duma to BMS as part of the APA. But

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Gustafson v. Gustafson, 47 Wn. App. 272, 276, 734 P.2d 949 (1987)
 <sup>40</sup> RT 4/4/2014 at pp. 1-7; CP 94-95

the trial court rejected that notion. As Judge Gregerson said to Weatherspoon's counsel:

You brought the same issue here a couple weeks ago and again the momentum of that logic still hangs in the air....and it's—it's difficult for me—to understand how you can get the benefit of that logic with respect to the derivative claims and then not be bound by the same logic...<sup>41</sup>

In sum, Weatherspoon did not pursue a derivative claim for fraud against Safranski, nor could he, and thus, his claim does not fall within the narrow exception for shareholder derivative claims.

## 2. Weatherspoon's Claim is Not Based on Any Duty Owed to Him Other Than as a Shareholder of Duma

There is another exception to the general rule that a shareholder has no standing to sue for harm to the corporation.

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