No. 47716-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALEX SAFRANSKI, Appellant

v.

SULTAN WEATHERSPOON, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM CLARK COUNTY
SUPERIOR COURT
(Hon. David E. Gregerson)

**RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE BRIEF
AND CROSS-APPEAL BRIEF**

Michael R. Seidl, WSB No. 14142
121 SW Morrison Street, Suite 475
Portland, OR 97204
Telephone: 503-224-7840
mick@seidl-law.com

Phillip Haberthur, WSB No. 38038
Landerholm, P.S.
805 Broadway Street, Suite 1000
Vancouver, WA 98660
Telephone: 360-696-3312 or 503-283-3393
philh@landerholm.com

Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Weatherspoon had Standing to Sue Safranski for Fraud.

As an initial matter, the record for review was not properly presented to this Court, thus it should decline to review Safranski's assignments of error.³⁴

The trial court made two rulings regarding Safranski's defense of lack of standing: First, the trial court denied a motion for summary judgment.

Safranski then orally raised the issue of standing at the conclusion of the evidence in a Rule 50 motion for judgment as a matter of the law.

NAITO: And, Your Honor, plaintiff has a CR 50 motion for the court also.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. NAITO: And this is on the -- whether or not Mr. Weatherspoon has standing to bring a fraud claim against plaintiff. And that argument is set forth on page 18 and 19 of my trial memorandum. It is substantially the same argument that was made at summary judgment.

THE COURT: Thank you. Mr. Seidl, any response?

MR. SEIDL: Your Honor, unless you need additional argument on that, I think the argument we made at

³³ CP 417

³⁴ The party seeking review has the burden of providing the appellate court with an adequate record to review the issues raised on appeal. *See Story v. Shelter Bay Co.*, 52 Wn. App. 334, 345, 760 P.2d 368 (1988).

summary judgment, in which you denied that very same motion, I would adopt and incorporate that argument.

THE COURT: It does seem to be a pure legal issue and I do appreciate counsel cutting to the chase on this. Court previously ruled on that and does find -- well, actually denies any motion based upon lack of standing and affirms.³⁵

On appeal, Safranski does not designate the factual record of evidence admitted during trial, upon which the trial court relied to deny the CR 50 motion. "An insufficient record on appeal precludes review of the alleged errors."³⁶

Without that evidence, this Court cannot properly review the basis for the denial of the CR 50 motion, and because there was a trial, Safranski cannot appeal denial of the CR 56 motion.³⁷ For that reason alone, this Court should affirm the judgment.

1. The Common Law Pertaining to Shareholder Standing.

Safranski attempts to use principles regarding standing to create a self-styled immunity for himself. According to Safranski's misguided view, no party had standing to redress the fraud he perpetrated: Not Duma, because the fraudulently-induced APA transferred Duma's fraud claim to BMS; and not Weatherspoon because Safranski owed him no duty that qualified under *Sabey*.

³⁵ SRP, 3/30/2015, p. 60, ll 4 25.

³⁶ *Bulzomi v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 72 Wn. App. 522, 525, 864 P.2d 1996 (1994).

³⁷ When a trial court denies summary judgment due to factual disputes, and a trial is subsequently held on the factual issues, the losing party must appeal from the sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial, not from the denial of summary judgment. *Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*, 123 Wn.2d 15, 35, n.9, 864 P.2d 921 (1993).

A straightforward application of the case law confirms Weatherspoon's standing to sue for breach of two independent duties Safranski owed to Weatherspoon.

Safranski initially defines the issue as one "where the courts must distinguish between a direct claim by a corporation and derivative claims by their shareholders."³⁸ He wrongly asserts that Weatherspoon did not "bring to trial a derivative suit on behalf of Duma" explaining that the court dismissed Duma's claim because the corporation sold its claim to BMS.³⁹ Thus, Safranski argues that Weatherspoon must qualify his direct claim under one of the two exceptions in *Sabey*.

Safranski cites extensively to William M. Fletcher's treatise, *Fletcher, Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations*, which he correctly describes as "one of the leading treatises" in this area, and one that "Washington courts have expressly adopted" on this subject.⁴⁰

While both exceptions under *Sabey* apply, the issue here is not a choice between a derivative or a direct claim. Safranski ignores the well-established rule that "[a]n individual cause of action can be asserted when the wrong is both to the shareholder and to the corporation."⁴¹

As explained extensively in *Fletcher*, the requirement of a shareholder to bring a derivative claim does not arise in a case such as this one. The direct versus derivative issue arises when a shareholder

³⁸ Br. of App. at 13.

³⁹ *Id.* at 18.

⁴⁰ *Id.* at 13.

⁴¹ *Fletcher* at §5908, p. 497-98. See, e.g., *Far West Federal Bank v. Office of Thrift Supervision Director*, 119 F.3d 1358 (9th Cir. 1997).

should properly assert derivatively the corporation's claim against a party whose only legal duty was to the corporation.⁴² The threat of multiplicity of lawsuits by other shareholders, or a recovery that prejudices the interests of the non-suing shareholders are of primary concern in such cases.⁴³

Here, Duma filed its own direct claim against Safranski – not derivatively through Weatherspoon, as Safranski misstates, but as a direct claim. Indeed, Weatherspoon could not have met the requirement under CR 23.1 that he had tried and failed to have the corporation act on its claim before filing a derivative suit.

Duma's direct claim was dismissed on Safranski's motion because the trial court held that Duma's claim had been sold to BMS under the APA.

The real issue is whether Weatherspoon also had a direct claim of his own. If he did, it does not matter whether Safranski also breached a duty owed to the corporation.

A shareholder may sue to redress direct injuries to him regardless of whether the same violation injured the corporation. If the shareholders properly establish an individual cause of action, they can maintain an action against a third party despite the fact that the corporation itself is also suing that party.⁴⁴

Fletcher also describes a shareholder's right to sue as follows:

⁴² CR 23.1.

⁴³ Neither of these concerns would be present here anyway. Weatherspoon was the only shareholder, apart from the fraud-doer/shareholder.

⁴⁴ *Fletcher* at §5911.

A shareholder may sue as an individual where the act complained of creates not only a cause of action in favor of the corporation but also creates a cause of action in favor of the shareholder as an individual, such as where the act is in violation of duties arising from contract or otherwise, and owed to the shareholder directly, and under certain circumstances, even if the shareholders are unable to get relief on behalf of the corporation, their individual wrongs are not without remedy.⁴⁵

Fletcher enumerates the type of cases recognizing a shareholder's right to file a direct claim. They include:

4. Actions directly relating to the stock held by the shareholder, including... **fraud in inducing a subsequent sale of stock**....

8. Acts depriving a shareholder or member of rights such as, including acts **depriving one of the advantage of majority control**. (Emphasis added.)⁴⁶

Cases collected in *American Jurisprudence* summarize the same rule:

A stockholder may maintain an individual, as distinguished from a derivative, action against directors, officers, or others for wrongs constituting a **direct fraud** on him or her such as being induced to purchase stock in a corporation and pay a higher price than the stock was fairly and reasonably worth, or **being induced to sell stock for a sum less than its true value** by reason of false and fraudulent representations by others, or **losing control of the corporation** as the result of fraud. (Emphasis added.)⁴⁷

Finally, courts allow direct actions by shareholders when, as here, the corporation cannot obtain a recovery sufficient to protect the injured shareholder:

⁴⁵ *Id.* at 556-59.

⁴⁶ *Id.* at §5915.

⁴⁷ 19 *Am.Jur.2d Corporations* §1955 (2004).

In addition, an individual action [by a shareholder] will be allowed if there is a fiduciary relationship between the parties, which requires the wrongdoer to protect the interests of the stockholder, and if that duty has been violated and full relief to the stockholder cannot be had through a recovery by the corporation.⁴⁸

The trial court instructed the jury that Safranski owed fiduciary duties directly to Weatherspoon as a shareholder.⁴⁹ A second source of legal duty arose under the law of fraud. The court instructed the jury that Safranski had a duty to disclose the BMS bonus arrangement to Weatherspoon if the jury found that Safranski made half-truths to Weatherspoon.⁵⁰

Because Weatherspoon proved a breach of one or both of those duties, the Court should hold that his standing to assert that breach as a direct claim was never in doubt. Had Weatherspoon relied exclusively upon a duty Safranski owed only to the corporation (i.e., the duties Safranski owed as a former director or former employee of Duma), the analysis of Weatherspoon's standing would have been different. That was not the case below, however.

Application of these standing rules to deny Weatherspoon's recovery would be legally untenable. Safranski could commit fraud with impunity, while the victim of his fraud is left without remedy or redress. He cites no legal authority that would countenance such a manifest injustice.

⁴⁸ 19 *Am. Jur. 2d Corporations* §1956 (2004).

⁴⁹ CP 376.

⁵⁰ CP 372.

2. Weatherspoon's Fraud Claim Qualifies Under Both *Sabey* Exceptions.

Safranski relies upon *Sabey*⁵¹ for his standing argument. Though *Sabey* involved facts that were very different, the case only supports Weatherspoon's standing.

Plaintiff Sabey purchased a company,⁵² He sued a consultant that had provided an expert opinion to the company, before Sabey purchased the company.⁵³ During Sabey's due diligence, the consultant provided its expert opinion to Sabey, who alleged that he relied upon it in deciding to buy the company.⁵⁴ When Sabey sued the consultant individually, the defendant consultant contended that only its client, the corporation, not Sabey, had standing.⁵⁵ The Court of Appeals disagreed.⁵⁶

After stating the general rule that "a shareholder cannot sue for wrongs done to a corporation..." the *Sabey* court explained two exceptions to this rule.⁵⁷ Safranski erroneously contends that neither of those exceptions apply to Weatherspoon's fraud claim.

a. *The Special Duty Exception.*

The court first defined the "special duty" exception as follows:

As an exception to the general rule, a stockholder may maintain an action in his own right **against a third party** (although the corporation may likewise have a cause of action for the same wrong) when the injury to the individual resulted from violation of some special duty

⁵¹ *Sabey v. Howard Johnson & Co.*, 101 Wn. App. 575, 5 P.3d 730 (2000).

⁵² *Id.* at 579.

⁵³ *Id.*

⁵⁴ *Id.*

⁵⁵ *Id.* at 581.

⁵⁶ *Id.* at 584.

⁵⁷ *Id.* at 595.

owed to the stockholder but only when that special duty had its origin in circumstances independent of the stockholder's status as a stockholder.⁵⁸

Safranski contends that the fiduciary duties he owed to Weatherspoon do not satisfy this exception because they were not "independent of the stockholder's status as a stockholder."⁵⁹ His fiduciary duties arose precisely because Safranski was a shareholder.

Safranski's error is in contending that a fiduciary duty owed between shareholders is disqualified by the phrase "independent of the stockholder's status as a stockholder." *Sabey* is explicit that this qualifier applies when the shareholder sues "**a third party.**"

Safranski cites to zero cases in which a shareholder's direct claim against another shareholder was disqualified because the duty arose out of the defendant shareholder's status as a shareholder. Nor is there any legal authority supporting such a misguided and illogical interpretation.

If the fiduciary duty between shareholders could not serve as a "special duty" permitting a direct claim, there would be no cases authorizing such direct actions between shareholders. And yet, as set forth above, breach of fiduciary duty and fraud claims are oftentimes allowed as direct actions between shareholders. Safranski himself believes that because after his derivative claim on behalf of Duma against Weatherspoon for the expense reimbursements was dismissed, he

⁵⁸ *Id.* at 585, quoting *Hunter v. Knight, Vale & Gregory*, 18 Wn. App. 640, 646, 571 P.2d 212 (1977) (emphasis added).

⁵⁹ Br. of App. at 21.

relied instead upon Weatherspoon's fiduciary duty owed to Safranski to recover on a direct claim.

Moreover, if such fiduciary duties were not actionable by the shareholder harmed by a breach, what meaning would they have?

In *Sabey*, the plaintiff shareholder sued a third party – a consultant to the corporation.⁶⁰ The plaintiff could not rely upon the third-party consultant's duty of care to its client, the corporation, to meet this special duty exception.⁶¹

Nevertheless, the shareholder was entitled to rely upon a direct duty owed to him by the third party under the tort of negligent misrepresentation.⁶² When the consultant furnished its opinion to Sabey in the due diligence process, the *Sabey* court held:

Under the RESTATEMENT [(SECOND) OF TORTS, §552 (1997)], this representation, and those that preceded it, could be found to create (and breach) a duty to Sabey personally.⁶³

The *Sabey* court cited *Hunter*,⁶⁴ which also illustrates a third-party claim. In *Hunter*, unlike *Sabey*, the shareholder could not point to an independent duty.⁶⁵

The plaintiff shareholder sued an accounting firm that had performed work for the corporation.⁶⁶ The *Hunter* court held that the

⁶⁰ *Sabey*, 101 Wn. App. at 579-581.

⁶¹ *Id.* at 588-592.

⁶² *Id.*

⁶³ *Id.* at 586.

⁶⁴ *Hunter*, 18 Wn. App. at 646.

⁶⁵ *Id.*

⁶⁶ *Id.* at 641-643.

plaintiff shareholder had not established a special duty owing to him directly, and he could not vicariously rely on the CPA firm's duty it owed to the corporation.⁶⁷

Aside from *Sabey*, the only other case relied upon by Safranski again illustrates this point. In *Aventa*,⁶⁸ defendant K12 purchased plaintiff Aventa Corporation.⁶⁹ Aventa, and two of its shareholders, sued K12 on a variety of claims relating to financial projections made by K12 before the acquisition.⁷⁰

Defendant K12 contended that Aventa's two shareholder claims should be dismissed because only Aventa had standing to sue K12.⁷¹ The U.S. District Court agreed.⁷²

Citing *Sabey* and *Hunter*, the District Court held that the two plaintiff shareholders had not established that K12 owed them a special duty having "its origin in circumstances independent of the stockholder's status as a stockholder."⁷³ In fact, the shareholders made no attempt to establish any such special duty.

With regard to the first exception, Defendants assert that there is no evidence that they owed any special duty to the individual plaintiffs – independent of their status as stockholders in *Aventa*, and Plaintiffs have asserted none.⁷⁴

⁶⁷ *Hunter*, 18 Wn. App. at 646-647.

⁶⁸ *Aventa Learning, Inc. v. K12, Inc.*, 830 F.Supp.2d 1083 (W.D. Wash., 2011).

⁶⁹ *Id.* at 1089.

⁷⁰ *Id.* at 1091.

⁷¹ *Id.* at 1102-1103.

⁷² *Id.* at 1103.

⁷³ *Id.*

⁷⁴ *Id.*

Like *Sabey* and *Hunter*, the shareholders of Aventa could not rely vicariously upon the duty owed by the defendant to the corporation.⁷⁵

Weatherspoon did not rely upon a duty Safranski owed to Duma. Nor did he sue a third party. Safranski did not object to any of the jury instructions relating to his duties, and he does not challenge his duties on appeal. The Court should hold that the fiduciary duties owed by Safranski qualify as a special duty actionable by Weatherspoon.

3. Safranski's Duty to Disclose Arising from Half-Truths.

Safranski fails to even address a second ground by which Weatherspoon established that Safranski owed him a legal duty.

In the summary judgment proceeding, Weatherspoon relied on a duty of disclosure to meet the special duty exception in *Sabey*.⁷⁶ At that stage of the case, the trial court had not yet ruled on whether a minority shareholder owed fiduciary duties to a majority shareholder. During trial, the court eventually held that such fiduciary duties did exist.

To overcome Safranski's earlier summary judgment motion, however, Weatherspoon did not rely upon Safranski's fiduciary duties.

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